Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Maturitas



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/maturitas

Environments for healthy ageing: A critical review

Philippa Clarke^{a,*}, Els R. Nieuwenhuijsen^b

^a Institute for Social Research, University of Michigan, 426 Thompson Street, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1248, United States ^b Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, University of Michigan, United States

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 19 June 2009 Received in revised form 22 July 2009 Accepted 23 July 2009

Keywords: Environments Neighborhoods Person–environment fit ICF

ABSTRACT

Population health outcomes are shaped by complex interactions between individuals and the environments in which they live, work and play. Environments encompass streets and buildings (physical environment), attitudes, supports and relationships with others (social environment), as well as social and political systems and policies. The impact of environments on the physical, mental health and functioning of individuals has emerged as a growing body of research in population health and health disparities. Yet, the majority of studies in this area do not focus on older adults even though older adults are particularly susceptible to the characteristics of their local environments. In this paper we review the current state of the health literature on physical environments for healthy ageing, using the International Classification of Functioning Disability and Health as a framework. Collectively, the literature emphasizes the role of supportive, barrier-free environments particularly for older adults who are at greater risk for disability and poor health. As part of our review we identify conceptual as well as methodological limitations in the current literature, including (i) a theoretical and empirical neglect of the underlying mechanisms behind the person-environment relationship; (ii) a lack of studies using nationally representative samples; (iii) over-reliance on cross-sectional data; and (iv) a need for better definition and measurement of personcentered environments. We conclude by offering some suggestions and directions for future research in this area.

© 2009 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	14
2.	The ICF: a framework for healthy aging	15
3.	Environments for healthy ageing: a review of the literature	15
4.	Understanding the mechanisms behind the health-environment relationship	16
5.	Implications and areas for further research	17
	Contributors	17
	Competing interests	17
	Provenance	18
	Acknowledgements	18
	References	18

1. Introduction

Population health outcomes are shaped by complex interactions between individuals and the diverse physical, social, and political contexts (including the human made environment, social supports and relationships, attitudes, services, systems and policies) in which they are situated over the life course. These divergent contexts contribute to population health disparities both cross-sectionally as well as cumulatively over time, since mortality, disease prevalence, physical function and mental health have been found to vary across different environments [1]. Yet, the majority of studies in this area do not focus on older adults even though older adults are particularly susceptible to barriers in their local environments, especially when they experience limitations in their functional abilities and are in need of accessible transportation and services. As a result of declining health and functional status, financial strain and social isolation, persons at the latter stages of the life



Review

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 734 647 9611; fax: +1 734 936 0548. *E-mail address*: pjclarke@umich.edu (P. Clarke).

^{0378-5122/\$ –} see front matter 0 2009 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2009.07.011



Fig. 1. Interactions between the Components of the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) (WHO [6]). Note: Personal factors are included in the framework but are not classified in the current version of the ICF.

course are especially vulnerable to barriers in their surrounding social and physical environment [2,3].

In this paper we review the current state of the health literature on environments for healthy ageing with a focus on the neighborhood in which the person lives. Throughout our review, we use the term "environment" to capture a broad array of physical and social contexts (also referred to as neighborhoods within this literature) that people experience when engaging in activities outside the home. In order to contain the scope of the review we do not directly consider the literature on housing quality and health (e.g. [4]), which is also relevant for healthy ageing, nor do we provide a comprehensive review of the rehabilitation literature, which addresses environmental factors as they intersect with underlying disease processes and assistive technology. We first summarize a conceptual framework that builds on the need identified in ageing research to better understand how environments interact with underlying pathophysiological processes to influence health and functioning in older adults [5]. We then go on to review studies in this area, and identify conceptual as well as methodological limitations in the current literature. We conclude by offering some suggestions and directions for future research.

2. The ICF: a framework for healthy aging

Scholars agree that aging is a complex process in which environmental and personal lifestyle factors are influential. As Franco et al. [5] argue, there is a need for a comprehensive, holistic, multidisciplinary approach to better understand healthy aging trajectories. To meet this need it is relevant to look at a uniform framework, the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) [6]. The ICF was developed to operationalize health and health-related domains within the context of environmental and personal factors. The ICF is an internationally recognized classification developed under the auspices of the World Health Organization to enhance the collection, analysis and interpretation of uniform health- and disability-related data at the individual and population level. More specifically, the ICF provides a scientific foundation for understanding and measuring health and healthrelated states.

The ICF framework (see Fig. 1) is particularly useful for this review. It is based on the concept that health and social functioning are influenced by complex interactions between environmental factors and body functions and structures (e.g. hemiparesis due to stroke), as well as activities and participation (e.g. mobility) [6]. Personal factors (such as gender, race, age, education, fitness, lifestyle, habits, and coping styles) are also included in the framework, but are not classified in the current version of the ICF. In this review we focus only on environmental factors. The ICF addresses functioning at three levels (Fig. 1): the body (e.g. mental, physiological, or anatomical structures or functions), activities (e.g. dressing oneself, walking, reading, driving a car), and social participation (social activities, recreation and leisure, voting, or attending public events). For example, an individual with arthritis may experience pain (impairments in body functions and structures) that leads to severe difficulty in walking (activity limitation), which may restrict his or her involvement in life situations, such as meeting with close friends (participation restriction). Further, due to difficulty walking, this person is at increased risk of developing secondary health conditions such cardiovascular disease or obesity, with further implications for restricted functioning and participation.

The ICF promotes a complex biopsychosocial approach in which environmental factors can facilitate or impede a person's functioning in terms of activities and/or participation. Extending the example presented above, a person who has difficulty walking due to arthritis may continue to be active in social participation if he or she lives in an environment with an extensive, accessible public transit system. The comprehensive list of environmental factors in the ICF identifies a wide range of potential environmental barriers and facilitators [6].

3. Environments for healthy ageing: a review of the literature

Over the last two decades, the impact of environments on the physical and mental health and functioning of individuals has emerged as a frontier of research in population health and health disparities ([7]; for reviews, see [8,9]). Aspects of residential context may combine additively or interactively with individual-level variables to significantly increase our ability to explain variation in health and functional outcomes and/or their risk factors, hence offering new avenues for health-promoting interventions. However, only a minority of these studies has looked specifically at older adult populations, and very few studies have used a theoretical framework (such as the ICF) to guide their work. As a result, the findings are often atheoretical without explicit discussion of the underlying processes behind the person–environment fit or misfit [3,10], which has consequences for our ability to develop effective interventions.

The environmental barriers subjectively reported by older adults include poor transportation, discontinuous or uneven sidewalks, curbs, noise, and inadequate lighting [11,12]. Temperature extremes have also been related to older adult health outcomes [13,14]. In other research pedestrian-oriented designs (e.g. continuous, barrier-free sidewalks, four-way stop signals, and pedestrian amenities) and access to recreational facilities have been shown to be positively associated with physical activity and self-rated health in older adults, and negatively related to obesity [15–23]. Poor street conditions, heavy traffic, and excessive noise have been shown to be associated with the onset of mobility impairments even up to 3 years later [24,25], offering evidence of a bidirectional relationship between activities and impairments, as advocated by the ICF framework (Fig. 1).

Curb cuts (depressed curbs that act as ramps in sidewalks), smooth pavement, and barrier-free sidewalks are some of the environmental factors that can enhance independence and social participation in older adults at greatest risk, such as those who are socially isolated, prone to falling, or those with underlying weakness in movement-related functions and balance. Clarke and George [26] investigated the relationship between the built environment and daily activities (such as shopping, managing money, and getting around outside the home) with a sample of older adults living in central North Carolina. Consistent with the ICF framework, car dependent neighborhoods were inversely associated with independence in these activities but *only* among those with underlying impairment in movement and balance related functions. Environmental characteristics played no modifying role for those without mobility impairments [26].

A subsequent paper [27] examined the relationship between mobility and the built environment in the City of Chicago. Among residents with movement-related impairments, the odds of reporting severe difficulty walking were over four times greater for those living in neighborhoods with streets in poor condition (e.g. cracks, broken curbs, potholes) compared to those living in neighborhoods with streets in good condition. Street conditions had no effect on walking among those with no lower extremity impairments. These findings highlight the importance of residential context as a consequential factor in the degree to which limitations in physical functioning translate into actual difficulty in activities outside the home, but also suggest that built environments may have little or no effect among those with mild or no impairment [27].

Socially disadvantaged older adults are potentially more vulnerable to environmental barriers because of their greater need to access social services, such as a community meal programs and senior centers [12]. Women, minority, and low income seniors, are especially vulnerable because of their greater propensity to live alone in socially and economically disadvantaged areas without the language, education or economic resources to negotiate or even improve their environment. For example, low income and minority seniors are more likely to live in substandard housing with a decaying front porch or inaccessible front steps [11,12].

Freedman [28] examined the link between neighborhood socioeconomic characteristics (using tract-level indicators from the 2000 US Census) and stages of the disablement process among a nationally representative sample of American adults age 55 and older. Neighborhood socioeconomic advantage (represented by the percent owner-occupied housing units in each tract, percent families with income greater than \$75,000, and percent adults with a college degree) was associated with a reduced risk of lower body limitations. They also found marked gender differences. Among men, neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage (captured by percent population in poverty; age 65+ population in poverty; proportion of households receiving public assistance income; proportion unemployed; and number of housing units without a vehicle) was associated with greater risk of difficulties with self-care activities (e.g. eating, dressing, bathing), but living in a census tract area with greater street connectivity was associated with a lower risk of IADL difficulty (again for men, but not for women) [28].

A similar association has been found between neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage and self-rated poor health [29,30], a higher number of chronic health conditions [31], increased cardiovascular, as well as all-cause, mortality [32–34] and progressive chronic kidney disease [35] in older adults. However, the association between neighborhood disadvantage and subclinical cardiovascular disease (e.g. asymptomatic peripheral vascular disease or carotid atherosclerosis) was not statistically significant after adjusting for individual risk factors that select individuals with poor health and fewer socioeconomic resources into socioeconomically disadvantaged environments [36].

A number of studies have found that neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage is also associated with mental health outcomes including depression [37–39], cognitive impairment [40], and psychological well-being [41], operating over and above individual risk factors that select people into more disadvantaged neighborhoods over time. However, not all studies were able to rule out compositional effects for mental health outcomes [42].

The demographic structure of one's environment has also been found to be important for health in older adults. Living in an area with a higher proportion of older adults has been found to be associated with fewer depressive symptoms in later life [38] and better self-rated health [30]. Some data in the US suggest that older black Americans report better self-rated health when living in neighborhoods with a higher percentage of Black residents [43]. Cagney et al. [44] found that neighborhood socioeconomic advantage partly explains racial disparities in self-rated health.

Evidence also shows that the spatial distribution of health care resources is not equitable since physicians are concentrated in communities with greater economic wealth [45]. A higher proportion of older adults in a neighborhood may indicate a greater density of health and social services that are targeted towards older adults [30], with positive consequences for health and functioning [46]. Yet, not all studies have found that the number of health services mediates the relationship between neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage or neighborhood age structure and the health of older adults [30,38].

4. Understanding the mechanisms behind the health-environment relationship

For the most part these findings are limited to cross-sectional data (for exceptions see [24,25]), preventing an understanding of the dynamic changes in health among representative samples of older adults living across diverse built environments as they age. During the aging process adults may experience a reduction in functional capacities, including walking, hearing, seeing, and cognitive function. In addition, individuals can experience a variety of different contextual conditions as they move in and out of different neighborhoods over the life course. Even over a defined period of time, neighborhood characteristics may change substantially following infrastructure and community development, and as adults age in place, their social participation and independence may be enhanced as their surrounding contexts are modified.

In one of the early studies of environments on health change in later life, Krause [47] found that exposure to deteriorated neighborhoods was associated with declines in self-rated health and functional independence over a 4 year period. However, true change in neighborhood exposure over the interval was not assessed. More recently, Sheffield and Peek [48] found that older Mexican Americans living in socioeconomically disadvantaged neighborhoods experienced significantly faster rates of cognitive decline over a 5 year period.

However, the "most pressing issue" in this research area [49], is the need for the development of better theory and understanding on the mechanisms by which environments affect health. This is a repeated concern raised also by other researchers [8,50] who argue that it is not sufficient to simply investigate community influences without also developing an understanding of the dynamic *processes* by which neighborhood characteristics operate to influence different health outcomes. In spite of increasing evidence suggesting that place of residence matters to health, we are still unclear why and how this occurs and are consequently unable to "translate" such knowledge to interventions.

The ICF can operate as a unifying theoretical framework to better understand the mechanisms underlying observed relationships as well as to bridge findings across disciplines using a common language. For example, rather than examining the effects of environmental characteristics among older adults in general, the ICF framework directs us to examine environmental effects across those with different levels of underlying risk [26,27]. These modifying effects help to identify the mechanisms through which the environment is most operational. Yet, such stratified analyses are rarely performed in the extant literature.

In addition, the health field can learn much from the attention to social processes already demonstrated in the neighborhood literature in other disciplines [51–53]. For example, neighborhoods may affect health via the availability of accessible community resources (i.e. health services, recreational facilities, food banks or food subsidy programs) or via toxic environments (pollution, crowding, poor sanitation), through collective socialization or peer influence on health behaviors [51,53], through increased stress exposure in disadvantaged neighborhoods, or through "relative deprivation" and related social comparison processes [53].

Other personal factors including age, education, managing stress, health behaviors and religious coping, have been found to partly explain the relationship between neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage and health [47,54,55]. Low income older adults living in high income neighborhoods have been found to experience worse health than low income adults living in low income neighborhoods [56,57] suggesting that social comparison processes with one's neighbors may play a role in the health–environment relationship [58]. Perceptions of neighborhood social capital and neighborhood social cohesion have been found to be associated with decreased heart disease and mortality [59], but their mediating role with respect to structural indicators of contextual disadvantage were not investigated.

5. Implications and areas for further research

The role of the surrounding environment may play a key role in shaping patterns of independence and dependence among older adults. As costs increase, current long term care policies are shifting the care of older adults away from nursing homes and into the home and community setting. While the majority of older adults prefer to age in place [60], the environmental characteristics that facilitate independence in later life are not well understood. The struggle to maintain independence in the community in the face of declining health and function is a dynamic process that includes interpersonal, social, and environmental resources [61]. In this paper we reviewed the existing literature on environments for healthy ageing and found a growing body of work identifying environmental effects on a wide range of physical and mental heath outcomes in older adults. These findings stress the role of supportive, barrierfree environments particularly for older adults who are at greater risk for disability and poor health due to the presence of underlying disease processes.

In this final section we identify three areas for future research. First, we argue for a uniform framework in the study of environments for healthy ageing. The ICF provides a useful bidirectional framework linking contextual factors, impairments, activity limitations and participation restrictions [6]. However, very few studies reviewed for this paper addressed the impact of the environment for social participation, which is also a key component of overall health and well-being. Most of the research has focused on activity or impairment related outcomes, yet older persons with hearing, visual, or mobility impairments may want to participate in social, cultural, religious, or recreational activities but are unable to because of environmental barriers [62]. Research in this area would contribute new knowledge about the complex interrelationships between health, functioning, and the environment.

More research is also needed on the mechanisms that underlie these complex relationships. In particular, research on the impact of the socio-political environment on the health and well-being of older adults is notably absent. Declines in functioning can be slowed or even reversed through public policy measures such as the promotion of age friendly living environments. For example, the World Health Organization urges policy makers to address the needs of the growing older population through its Age-friendly Cities Guide [63], which focuses on eight areas of urban life: outdoor spaces and buildings; transportation; housing; social participation; respect and social inclusion; civic participation and employment; communication and information; and community support and health services. The guide, however, is not linked with the ICF framework. As a result certain issues are not addressed such as the provision of health information for older individuals with cognitive impairments or the importance of making public events accessible for people with hearing and or visual impairments [64].

The second issue requiring development [8,49,50] centers on the need to incorporate longitudinal aspects of neighborhood context into research. The predominant approach emphasizes the characteristics of the current environment for current health and functioning. Yet, it is increasingly recognized that neighborhoods are not static, but evolve dynamically through time, first, because environments change but, second, because individuals move through a number of contextual settings over their lives.

Third, there are a number of methodological and measurement issues that pertain to neighborhood research more generally, including the need to use nationally representative samples, and a need for better definition and measurement of person-centered environments. This area of research would benefit from a departure from using administrative definitions of neighborhoods (e.g. Census tracts) and over-reliance on administrative data sources (e.g. Census-based measures) in favor of person-defined neighborhood boundaries and directly constructed measures to characterize environments [49,65–67].

As the number of older individuals is projected to more than triple worldwide over the next half century, there will be major implications for the health, functioning, and social participation of older adults. Interdisciplinary training that brings together health professionals with urban planners [68] has the potential to generate initiatives that could minimize the negative consequences of underlying disease and impairments for the independence of older adults, so that they can continue to maximize their health, well-being, and participation within their communities as they age.

Contributors

Philippa Clarke and Els Nieuwenhuijsen declare that they both participated in the conception and writing of the manuscript and that they have seen and approved the final version.

Competing interests

Neither Philippa Clarke nor Els Nieuwenhuijsen have any conflicts of interest.

Provenance

Commissioned and externally peer reviewed.

Acknowledgements

This paper was supported by Grant Number K01EH000286 from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). The contents of this paper are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the sponsor.

References

- Yen IH, Syme SL. The social environment and health: a discussion of the epidemiologic literature. Annual Review of Public Health 1999;20:287–308.
- [2] Robert SA, Li LW. Age variation in the relationship between community socioeconomic status and adult health. Research on Aging 2001;23(2):234–59.
- [3] Wahl H-W, Lang FR. Aging in context across the adult life course: integrating physical and social environmental research perspectives. Annual Review of Gerontology and Geriatrics 2003;23:1–33.
- [4] Oswald F, Wahl H-W, Schilling O, et al. Relationships between housing and healthy aging in very old age. Gerontologist 2007;47(1):96–107.
- [5] Franco OH, Karnik K, Osborne G, Ordovas JM, Catt M, Van der Ouderaa F. Changing course in ageing research: the healthy ageing phenotype. Maturitas 2009;63(1):13–9.
- [6] World Health Organization. International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2001.
- [7] Jones G, Sinclair L. Multiple health disparities among minority adults with mobility limitations: an application of the ICF framework and codes. Disability and Rehabilitation 2008;30:901–15.
- [8] Pickett KE, Pearl M. Multilevel analyses of neighborhood socio-economic context and health outcomes: a critical review. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 2001;55:111–22.
- [9] Glass TA, Balfour JL. Neighborhoods, aging, and functional limitations. In: Kawachi I, Berkman LF, editors. Neighborhoods and Health. New York: Oxford University Press; 2003. p. 303–34.
- [10] Wahl H-W, Weisman GD. Environmental gerontology at the beginning of the new millennium: reflections on its historical, empirical, and theoretical development. Gerontologist 2003;43(5):616–27.
- [11] Debnam K, Harris J, Morris I, Parikh S, Shirley L. Durham County Socially Isolated Older Adults: An Action-Oriented Community Diagnosis. University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill School of Public Health, Department of Health Behavior and Health Education; 2002.
- [12] Markham JP, Gilderbloom JI. Housing quality among the elderly: a decade of changes. International Journal of Aging and Human Development 1998;46(1):71–90.
- [13] Aylin P, Morris S, Wakefield J, Grossinho A, Jarup L, Elliot P. Temperature, housing deprivation and their relationship to excess winter mortality in Great Britain, 1986–1996. International Journal of Epidemiology 2001;30:1100–8.
- [14] Klinenberg E. Heat Wave: A Social Autopsy of Disaster in Chicago. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 2003.
- [15] Humpel N, Owen N, Leslie E. Environmental factors associated with adults' participation in physical activity. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 2002;22:188–99.
- [16] Addy CL, Wilson DK, Kirtland KA, Ainsworth BE, Sharpe P, Kimsey D. Associations of perceived social and physical environmental supports with physical activity and walking behavior. American Journal of Public Health 2004;94:440–3.
- [17] Booth ML, Owen N, Bauman A, Clavisi O, Leslie E. Social-cognitive and perceived environment influences associated with physical activity in older Australians. Preventive Medicine 2000;31(1):15–22.
- [18] Patterson PK, Chapman NJ. Urban form and older residents' service use, walking, driving, quality of life, and neighborhood satisfaction. American Journal of Health Promotion 2004;19:45–52.
- [19] Fisher KJ, Li F, Michael Y, Cleveland M. Neighborhood-level influences on physical activity among older adults: a multilevel analysis. Journal of Aging and Physical Activity 2004;11:45–63.
- [20] Berke EM, Koepsell TD, Moudon AV, Hoskins RE, Larson EB. Association of the built environment with physical activity and obesity in older persons. American Journal of Public Health 2007;97(3):486–92.
- [21] Michael Y, Beard T, Choi D, Farquhar S, Carlson N. Measuring the influence of built neighborhood environments on walking in older adults. Journal of Aging and Physical Activity 2006;14:302–12.
- [22] Li F, Fisher KJ, Brownson RC, Bosworth M. Multilevel modelling of built environment characteristics related to neighbourhood walking activity in older adults. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 2005;59(7):558–64.
- [23] Li F, Fisher KJ. A multilevel path analysis of the relationship between physical activity and self-rated health in older adults. Journal of Physical Activity and Health 2004;1:398–402.
- [24] Balfour JL, Kaplan GA. Neighborhood environment and loss of physical function in older adults: evidence from the Alameda County Study. American Journal of Epidemiology 2002;155:507–15.

- [25] Schootman M, Andresen EM, Wolinsky FD, Malmstron TK, Miller JP, Miller DK. Neighborhood conditions and risk of incident lower-body functional limitations among middle-aged African Americans. American Journal of Epidemiology 2006;163:450–8.
- [26] Clarke P, George LK. The role of the built environment in the Disablement Process. American Journal of Public Health 2005;95(11):1933–9.
- [27] Clarke P, Ailshire JA, Bader M, Morenoff JD, House JS. Mobility disability and the urban built environment. American Journal of Epidemiology 2008;168(5):506–13.
- [28] Freedman VA, Grafova IB, Schoeni RF, Rogowski J. Neighborhoods and disability in later life. Social Science and Medicine 2008;66(2253–2267).
- [29] Patel KV, Eschbach K, Rudkin LL, Peek MK, Markides KS. Neighborhood context and self-rated health in older Mexican Americans. Annals of Epidemiology 2003;13(9):620–8.
- [30] Subramanian SV, Kubzansky L, Berkman L, Fay M, Kawachi I. Neighborhood Effects on the Self-Rated Health of Elders: uncovering the Relative Importance of Structural and Service-Related Neighborhood Environments. Journals of Gerontology Series B-Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences 2006;61(3):S153–160.
- [31] Robert SA. Community-level socioeconomic status effects on adult health. Journal of Health and Social Behavior 1998;39(March):18–37.
- [32] Diez Roux AV, Borrell LN, Haan M, Jackson SA, Schultz R. Neighbourhood environments and mortality in an elderly cohort: results from the cardiovascular health study. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 2004;58(11):917–23.
- [33] Wen M, Christakis NA. Neighborhood effects on posthospitalization mortality: a population-based cohort study of the elderly in Chicago. Health Services Research 2005;40:1108–27.
- [34] Yen IH, Kaplan GA. Neighborhood social environment and risk of death: multilevel evidence from the Alameda Country Study. American Journal of Epidemiology 1999;149:898–907.
- [35] Merkin SS, Diez Roux AV, COresh J, Fried LF, Jackson SA, Powe NR. Individual and neighborhood socioeconomic status and progressive chronic kidney disease in an elderly population: The Cardiovascular Health Study. Social Science & Medicine 2007;65(4):809–21.
- [36] Nordstrom CK, Diez Roux AV, Jackson SA, Gardin JS. The association of personal and neighborhood socioeconomic indicators with subclinical cardiovascular disease in an elderly cohort. The cardiovascular health study. Social Science & Medicine 2004;59(10):2139–47.
- [37] Aneshensel CS, Wight RG, Miller-Martinez D, Botticello AL, Karlamangla AS, Seeman TE. Urban neighborhoods and depressive symptoms among older adults. Journals of Gerontology Series B-Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences 2007;62(1):S52–59.
- [38] Kubzansky LD, Subramanian SV, Kawachi I, Fay ME, Soobader MJ, Berkman LF. Neighborhood contextual influences on depressive symptoms in the elderly. American Journal of Epidemiology 2005;162(3):253–60.
- [39] Ostir GV, Eschbach K, Markides KS, Goodwin JS. Neighbourhood composition and depressive symptoms among older Mexican Americans. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 2003;57(12):987–92.
- [40] Wight RG, Aneshensel CS, Miller-Martinez D, et al. Urban neighborhood context, educational attainment, and cognitive function among older adults. American Journal of Epidemiology 2006;163(12):1071–8.
- [41] Breeze E, Jones DA, Wilklinson P, et al. Area deprivation, social class, and quality of life among people aged 75 years and over in Britain. International Journal of Epidemiology 2005;34(2):276–83.
- [42] Hybels CF, Blazer DG, Pieper CF, et al. Sociodemographic characteristics of the neighborhood and depressive symptoms in older adults: using multilevel modeling in geriatric psychiatry. American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry 2006;14(6):498–506.
- [43] Robert SA, Ruel E. Racial segregation and health disparities between black and white older adults. Journals of Gerontology Series B-Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences 2006;61(4):S203–211.
- [44] Cagney KA, Browning CR, Wen M. Racial disparities in self-rated health at older ages: what difference does the neighborhood make? Journals of Gerontology Series B-Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences 2005;60(4):S181–190.
- [45] Jiang HJ, Begun JW. Dynamics of change in local physician supply: an ecological perspective. Social Science & Medicine 2002;54(10):1525–41.
- [46] Bowling A, Barber J, Morris R, Ebrahim S. Do perceptions of neighbourhood environment influence health? Baseline findings from a British survey of aging. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 2006;60(6):476–83.
- [47] Krause N. Neighborhood deterioration, religious coping, and changes in health during late life. Gerontologist 1998;38(6):653–64.
- [48] Sheffield KM, Peek MK. Neighborhood context and cognitive decline in older Mexican Americans: results from the hispanic established populations for epidemiologic studies of the elderly. American Journal of Epidemiology 2009;169(9):1092–101.
- [49] O'Campo P. Invited commentary: advancing theory and methods for multilevel models of residential neighborhoods and health. American Journal of Epidemiology 2003;157:9–13.
- [50] Diez Roux AV. Invited commentary: places, people and health. American Journal of Epidemiology 2002;155(6):516–9.
- [51] Jencks C, Mayer SE. In: Lynn LE, MCGeary MGH, editors. The Social Consequences of Growing Up in a Poor Neighborhood in Inner-City Poverty in the United States. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press; 1990. p. 111–85.
- [52] Mayer SE, Jencks C. Growing up in poor neighborhoods: how much does it matter? Science 1989;243:1441–5.

- [53] Duncan GJ, Raudenbush SW. Assessing the effects of context in studies of child and youth development. Educational Psychologist 1999;34:29–41.
- [54] Yen İH, Scherzer T, Cubbin C, Gonzalez A, Winkelby M. Women's perceptions of neighborhood resources and hazards related to chronic disease risk factors: focus group results from economically diverse neighborhoods in a mid-sized US city. American Journal of Health Promotion 2007;22:98–106.
- [55] Schieman S, Meersman SC. Neighborhood problems and health among older adults: received and donated social support and the sense of mastery as effect modifiers. Journals of Gerontology Series B-Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences 2004;59(2):S89–97.
- [56] Deeg DJH, Thomése GCF. Discrepancies between personal income and neighbourhood status: effects on physical and mental health. European Journal of Ageing 2005;2(2):98–108.
- [57] Roos LL, Magoon J, Gupta S, Chateau D, Veugelers PJ. Socioeconomic determinants of mortality in two Canadian provinces: multilevel modelling and neighborhood context. Social Science & Medicine 2004;59(7):1435–47.
- [58] Schieman S, Pearlin LI, Meersman SC. Neighborhood disadvantage and anger among older adults: social comparisons as effect modifiers. Journal of Health and Social Behavior 2006;47:156–72.
- [59] Chaix B, Isacsson SO, Rastam L, Lindstrom M, Merlo J. Income change at retirement, neighbourhood-based social support, and ischaemic heart disease: results from the prospective cohort study "Men born in 1914". Social Science & Medicine 2007;64(4):818–29.
- [60] Callahan JJ. Aging in place. Generations 1992;16:5-6.

- [61] Lawton MP. Competence, environmental press, and the adaptation of older people. In: Lawton MP, Windley PG, Byerts TO, editors. Aging and the Environment: Theoretical Approaches. New York: Springer; 1982. p. 33–59.
- [62] Kirchner CE, Gerber EG, Smith BC. Designed to deter: community barriers to physical activity for people with visual or motor impairments. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 2008;34:349–52.
- [63] World Health Organization. Global Age-friendly Cities: A Guide. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007.
- [64] Howard D, Nieuwenhuijsen E, Saleeby P. Health promotion and education: application of the ICF in the US and Canada using an ecological perspective. Disability and Rehabilitation 2008;30:942–54.
- [65] Bond HSA. The concept of neighborhood in health and mortality research. Sociological Spectrum 2001;21:341–58.
- [66] Whiteneck GG, Harrison-Felix CL, Mellick DC, Brooks CA, Carlifue SB, Gerhart KA. Quantifying environmental factors: a measure of physical, attitudinal, service, productivity, and policy barriers. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2004;85(8):1324–35.
- [67] Gray DB, Hollingsworth HH, Stark S, Morgan KA. A subjective measure of environmental facilitators and barriers to participation for people with mobility limitations. Disability and Rehabilitation 2008;30(6):434–57.
- [68] Botchwey ND, Hobson SE, Dannenberg AL, et al. A model curriculum for a course on the built environment and public health: training for an interdisciplinary workforce. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 2009;36(2):S63–71.